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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
Item 1. Financial Statements (unaudited) 

TTM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets
As of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024

 
  As of  
  September 30, 2024   January 1, 2024  
  (Unaudited)  
  (In thousands, except par value)  
ASSETS       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 469,500   $ 450,208  
Accounts receivable, net   422,885    413,557  
Contract assets   362,668    292,050  
Inventories   227,913    213,075  
Receivable from sale of Shanghai E-MS (SH E-MS) property   —    6,737 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   41,861    54,060  

Total current assets   1,524,827    1,429,687  
Property, plant, and equipment, net   859,247    807,667  
Operating lease right-of-use assets   79,500    86,286  
Goodwill   702,735    702,735  
Definite-lived intangibles, net   201,069    236,711  
Deposits and other non-current assets   51,440    60,577  
Total assets  $ 3,418,818   $ 3,323,663  
       
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY       
Current liabilities:

      
Short-term debt, including current portion of long-term debt  $ 3,465  $ 3,500 
Accounts payable   387,071    334,609  
Contract liabilities

  138,368    126,508  
Accrued salaries, wages, and benefits   112,616    98,561  
Other current liabilities   121,730    140,806  

Total current liabilities   763,250    703,984  
Long-term debt, net of discount and issuance costs   912,809    914,336  
Operating lease liabilities   84,291    80,786  
Other long-term liabilities   111,359    113,518  

Total long-term liabilities   1,108,459    1,108,640  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)       
Equity:       

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 113,132 and 111,282
   shares issued as of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024, respectively;
   101,968 and 102,108 shares outstanding as of September 30, 2024 and
   January 1, 2024, respectively

  113    111  
Treasury stock – common stock at cost; 11,164 and 9,174 shares as of 
   September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024, respectively   (157,570 )   (123,091 )
Additional paid-in capital   902,658    880,963  
Retained earnings   833,252    782,123  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (31,344 )   (29,067 )

Total stockholders’ equity   1,547,109    1,511,039  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 3,418,818   $ 3,323,663  

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated condensed financial statements.
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TTM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

Consolidated Condensed Statements of Operations 
For the Quarter and Three Quarters Ended September 30, 2024 and October 2, 2023

 
  Quarter Ended   Three Quarters Ended  
  September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023   September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023  
  (Unaudited)  
  (In thousands, except per share data)  
Net sales  $ 616,538   $ 572,582   $ 1,791,788   $ 1,663,528  
Cost of goods sold   486,650    459,312    1,440,954    1,365,628  

Gross profit   129,888    113,270    350,834    297,900  
Operating expenses:             

Selling and marketing   19,961    18,763    60,053    58,245  
General and administrative   42,567    38,916    124,841    111,829  
Research and development

  8,054   6,173   23,922    19,682  
Amortization of definite-lived intangibles   6,951   11,429    28,636    37,245  
Impairment of goodwill   —    44,100    —    44,100  
Restructuring charges   1,393   4,091   6,367   19,061  

Total operating expenses   78,926    123,472    243,819    290,162  
Operating income (loss)   50,962    (10,202 )   107,015    7,738 
Other (expense) income:             

Interest expense   (11,768 )   (10,101 )   (36,311 )   (34,751 )
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —    —    —    (1,154)
Gain on sale of subsidiary   —    —    —    1,270 
Other, net   (14,177 )   3,044   (1,086)   9,310 

Total other expense, net   (25,945 )   (7,057)   (37,397 )   (25,325 )
Income (loss) before income taxes   25,017    (17,259 )   69,618    (17,587 )
Income tax provision   (10,706 )   (19,807 )   (18,489 )   (18,469 )
Net income (loss)  $ 14,311   $ (37,066 )  $ 51,129   $ (36,056 )
             
Earnings (loss) per share:             

Basic earnings (loss) per share  $ 0.14   $ (0.36 )  $ 0.50   $ (0.35 )
Diluted earnings (loss) per share   0.14    (0.36 )   0.49    (0.35 )

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated condensed financial statements. 
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TTM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

Consolidated Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Quarter and Three Quarters Ended September 30, 2024 and October 2, 2023

 
  Quarter Ended   Three Quarters Ended  
  September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023   September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023  
  (Unaudited)  
  (In thousands)  
Net income (loss)  $ 14,311   $ (37,066 )  $ 51,129   $ (36,056 )
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:             

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net   325    (52)   (533 )   (485 )
Derecognition of foreign currency translation
   adjustments due to sale of subsidiary   —    —    —    (6,627)
Net unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedges:             

Unrealized (loss) gain on effective cash flow 
    hedges during the period, net   (3,905)   3,010   835    8,150 
Amounts realized in the statement of 
    operations, net   (851 )   (837 )   (2,579)   (1,558)

Net   (4,756)   2,173   (1,744)   6,592 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax   (4,431)   2,121   (2,277)   (520 )
Comprehensive income (loss), net of tax  $ 9,880  $ (34,945 )  $ 48,852   $ (36,576 )

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated condensed financial statements.



 

6

TTM TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Consolidated Condensed Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
For the Three Quarters Ended September 30, 2024 and October 2, 2023

 

  Common Stock   Treasury Stock   
Additional

Paid-In   Retained   

Accumulate
d

Other
Comprehen

sive   

Total
Stockholder

s'  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Earnings   Loss   Equity  

  (Unaudited)  

  (In thousands)  

Balance, January 1, 2024   111,282   $ 111    (9,174 )  $ (123,091 )  $ 880,963   $ 782,123   $ (29,067 )  $ 1,511,039  
Net income   —    —    —    —    —    10,466    —    10,466  
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    —    2,150    2,150  
Issuance of common stock for
   performance-based
   restricted stock units   227    1    —    —    (1 )   —    —    —  
Issuance of common stock for
   restricted stock units   41    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Repurchases of common stock   —    —    (600 )   (9,334 )   —    —    —    (9,334 )
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    6,787    —    —    6,787  

Balance, April 1, 2024   111,550   $ 112    (9,774 )  $ (132,425 )  $ 887,749   $ 792,589   $ (26,917 )  $ 1,521,108  
Net income   —    —    —    —    —    26,352    —    26,352  
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    —    4    4  
Issuance of common stock for
   restricted stock units   1,559    1    —    —    (1 )   —    —    —  
Repurchases of common stock   —    —    (1,390 )   (25,145 )   —    —    —    (25,145 )
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    6,580    —    —    6,580  

Balance, July 1, 2024   113,109   $ 113    (11,164 )  $ (157,570 )  $ 894,328   $ 818,941   $ (26,913 )  $ 1,528,899  
Net income   —    —    —    —    —    14,311    —    14,311  
Other comprehensive loss   —    —    —    —    —    —    (4,431 )   (4,431 )
Issuance of common stock for
   restricted stock units   23    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    8,330    —    —    8,330  

Balance, September 30, 2024   113,132   $ 113    (11,164 )  $ (157,570 )  $ 902,658   $ 833,252   $ (31,344 )  $ 1,547,109  
 

  Common Stock   Treasury Stock   
Additional

Paid-In   Retained   

Accumulate
d

Other
Comprehen

sive   

Total
Stockholder

s'  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Earnings   Loss   Equity  

  (Unaudited)  

  (In thousands)  

Balance, January 2, 2023   109,598   $ 110    (7,370 )  $ (98,659 )  $ 858,077   $ 800,841   $ (24,790 )  $ 1,535,579  
Net loss   —    —    —    —    —    (5,814 )   —    (5,814 )
Other comprehensive loss   —    —    —    —    —    —    (7,271 )   (7,271 )
Issuance of common stock for
   performance-based
   restricted stock units   337    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Issuance of common stock for
   restricted stock units   21    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    5,240    —    —    5,240  

Balance, April 3, 2023   109,956   $ 110    (7,370 )  $ (98,659 )  $ 863,317   $ 795,027   $ (32,061 )  $ 1,527,734  
Net income   —    —    —    —    —    6,824    —    6,824  
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    —    4,630    4,630  
Issuance of common stock
   for restricted stock units   1,284    1    —    —    (1 )   —    —    —  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    5,121    —    —    5,121  

Balance, July 3, 2023   111,240   $ 111    (7,370 )  $ (98,659 )  $ 868,437   $ 801,851   $ (27,431 )  $ 1,544,309  
Net loss   —    —    —    —    —    (37,066 )   —    (37,066 )
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —    —    —    2,121    2,121  
Issuance of common stock for
   restricted stock units   10    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Repurchases of common stock   —    —    (1,020 )   (14,617 )   —    —    —    (14,617 )
Stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    6,367    —    —    6,367  

Balance, October 2, 2023   111,250   $ 111    (8,390 )  $ (113,276 )  $ 874,804   $ 764,785   $ (25,310 )  $ 1,501,114  
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated condensed financial statements.
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TTM TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

Consolidated Condensed Statements of Cash Flows 
For the Three Quarters Ended September 30, 2024 and October 2, 2023

 
  Three Quarters Ended  
  September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023  
  (Unaudited)  
  (In thousands)  
Cash flows from operating activities:       

Net income (loss)  $ 51,129   $ (36,056 )
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:       

Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment   78,709    74,060  
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets   35,642    47,811  
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs   1,517   1,726 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —    1,154 
Deferred income taxes   (1,180)   1,177 
Stock-based compensation   21,697    16,728  
Gain on sale of subsidiary   —    (1,270)
Impairment of goodwill   —    44,100  
Other   2,194   (633 )

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       
Accounts receivable, net   (9,328)   72,591  
Contract assets   (70,618 )   30,360  
Inventories   (14,838 )   (38,493 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (2,236)   81  
Accounts payable   34,698    (26,788 )
Contract liabilities   11,860    (1,745)
Accrued salaries, wages, and benefits   14,055    (20,955 )
Other current liabilities   (2,461)   (24,034 )

Net cash provided by operating activities   150,840    139,814  
Cash flows from investing activities:       

Proceeds from sale of SH E-MS property   6,737   61,769  
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment and other assets   (129,709 )   (114,167 )
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment and other assets   29,599    384  
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary, net of cash disposed   —    6,039 
Other   (76)   (101 )

Net cash used in investing activities   (93,449 )   (46,076 )
Cash flows from financing activities:       

Repurchases of common stock   (34,479 )   (14,617 )
Repayment of long-term debt   (8,730)   (291,572 )
Proceeds from long-term debt borrowing   6,105   234,818  
Payment of debt issuance costs   (1,113)   (5,487)
Refund of customer deposits   —    (7,500)
Payment of original issue discount   —    (3,500)

Net cash used in financing activities   (38,217 )   (87,858 )
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

  118    
(298

)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   19,292    5,582 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   450,208    402,749  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 469,500   $ 408,331  
Supplemental cash flow information:       

Cash paid, net for interest  $ 42,646   $ 42,688  
Cash paid, net for income taxes   15,196    27,830  

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:       
Cashless rollover of debt  $ 340,395   $ 115,182  
Property, plant, and equipment recorded in accounts payable and other current liabilities   83,934    89,056  

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated condensed financial statements.
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TTM TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements 

(Unaudited) 
(Dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data) 

(1) Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation
TTM Technologies, Inc. (the Company or TTM) is a leading global manufacturer of technology solutions including mission systems, radio 

frequency (RF) components, RF microwave/microelectronic assemblies, and quick-turn and technologically advanced printed circuit boards (PCB). The 
Company provides time-to-market and volume production of advanced technology products and offers a one-stop design, engineering, and 
manufacturing solution to customers. This solution allows the Company to align technology developments with the diverse needs of the Company’s 
customers and to enable them to reduce the time required to develop new products and bring them to market.

The Company serves a diversified customer base in various markets throughout the world, including aerospace and defense, data center 
computing, automotive, medical, industrial and instrumentation related products, and networking. The Company’s customers include original equipment 
manufacturers (OEMs), electronic manufacturing services (EMS) providers, original design manufacturers (ODMs), distributors, and government 
agencies (both domestic and allied foreign governments).

The accompanying unaudited consolidated condensed financial statements have been prepared by the Company pursuant to the rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Certain information and disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such 
rules and regulations. These consolidated condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and 
the notes thereto included in the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. 
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Company’s consolidated condensed financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Due, in part, to the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, and the conflict in the Middle East, the global economy 
and financial markets have been volatile. As such, the Company has considered information available to it as of the date of issuance of these financial 
statements and is not aware of any specific events or circumstances that would require an update to its estimates or judgments, or a revision to the 
carrying value of its assets or liabilities. The actual results the Company experienced may differ materially and adversely from its estimates. The 
Company uses a 52/53 week fiscal calendar with the fourth quarter ending on the Monday nearest December 31.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
In November 2024, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2024-03, Income Statement - 

Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which 
requires disclosure in the notes to the financial statements of specified information about certain costs and expenses. The amendments are effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is 
permitted. The amendments should be applied either prospectively to financial statements issued for reporting periods after the effective date of this ASU 
or retrospectively to any or all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the new guidance to determine 
the impact it may have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures, but expects additional disclosures upon adoption.

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-02, Codification Improvements - Amendments to Remove References to the Concepts Statements, to 
remove various references to concepts statements from the Accounting Standards Codification (ASC). These amendments clarify guidance, simplify 
wording or structure of guidance, and include other minor improvements. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2024, applied prospectively, with early adoption and retrospective application permitted. The impact of the adoption of the amendments in this update is 
not expected to be material to the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires 
disclosure of disaggregated income taxes paid, prescribes standard categories for the components of the effective tax rate reconciliation, and modifies 
other income tax-related disclosures. The update will be effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted for 
annual financial statements not yet issued or made available for issuance. The Company is currently evaluating the new guidance to determine the 
impact it may have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures, but expects additional disclosures upon adoption.
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In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which 
updates reportable segment disclosure requirements primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The amendments are 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early 
adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company will 
adopt ASU 2023-07 in its 2024 fiscal year Form 10-K using a retrospective transition method. This ASU will impact only the Company's disclosures with 
no impacts to the results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition.

In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06, Disclosure Improvements: Codification Amendments in Response to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission’s Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative, which modifies the disclosure or presentation requirements of a variety of topics 
in the ASC in response to the SEC’s Release No. 33-10532, Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative, and align the ASC requirements with the 
SEC’s regulations. For entities subject to the SEC's existing disclosure requirements, the effective date for each amendment will be the date on which 
the SEC's removal of that related disclosure from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K becomes effective. However, if by June 30, 2027, the SEC has not 
removed the related disclosure from its regulations, the amendments will be removed from the Codification and not become effective. Early adoption is 
prohibited. The Company is currently evaluating the new guidance to determine the impact it may have on the presentation of its consolidated financial 
statements and related disclosures.

(2) Share Repurchase Program
On May 3, 2023, the Company's Board of Directors authorized and approved a share repurchase program (2023 Repurchase Program), under 

which the Company may repurchase up to $100,000 in value of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock from time to time through May 3, 
2025. The Company may repurchase shares through open market purchases, privately-negotiated transactions, or otherwise in accordance with 
applicable federal securities laws, including Rule 10b-18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), which sets certain 
restrictions on the method, timing, price, and volume of open market stock repurchases. In addition, the Company adopted one trading plan in 
accordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act to facilitate certain purchases that may be effected under the share repurchase program. The timing, 
manner, price, and amount of any repurchases will be determined at the Company’s discretion, and the share repurchase program may be suspended, 
terminated, or modified at any time for any reason. The repurchase program does not obligate the Company to acquire any specific number of shares.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2024, the Company did not repurchase any shares. During the three quarters ended September 30, 
2024, the Company repurchased 1,990 shares of common stock for a total cost of $34,479 (including commissions). As of September 30, 2024, the 
remaining amount in value available to be repurchased under the 2023 Repurchase Program was approximately $41,088.

(3) Significant Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk 
Financial instruments that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.

The Company had cash and cash equivalents held by its foreign subsidiaries of $188,952 and $195,928 as of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 
2024, respectively. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with major financial institutions and such balances exceed Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation insurance limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant 
risk on cash and cash equivalents.

In the normal course of business, the Company extends credit to its customers. Some customers to whom the Company extends credit are located 
outside the United States. The Company performs on-going credit evaluations of customers, does not require collateral, and considers the credit risk 
profile of the entity from which the receivable is due in further evaluating collection risk. As of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024, there were no 
customers that accounted for 10% or more of the Company's accounts receivable. 

The Company’s customers include both OEMs and EMS companies. The Company’s OEM customers often direct a significant portion of their 
purchases through EMS companies. While the Company’s customers include both OEM and EMS providers, the Company measures customer 
concentration based on OEM companies, as they are the ultimate end customers.

For the quarter and three quarters ended September 30, 2024, one customer accounted for approximately 11% of the Company's net sales. For 
the quarter ended October 2, 2023, two customers collectively accounted for approximately 23% of the Company's net sales. For the three quarters 
ended October 2, 2023, one customer accounted for approximately 13% of the Company's net sales. 
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(4) Revenues
As of September 30, 2024, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations for long-term contracts 

was $481,400. The Company expects to recognize revenue on approximately 46% of the remaining performance obligations for the Company’s long-
term contracts over the next 12 months with the remaining amount expected to be recognized thereafter.

For contracts in which anticipated total costs exceed the total expected revenue, an estimated loss is recognized in the period when identifiable. A 
provision for the entire amount of the estimated loss is recorded on a cumulative basis. The estimated remaining costs to complete for loss contracts as 
of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024 were $34,703 and $25,213, respectively.

Revenue recognized for the three quarters ended September 30, 2024 from amounts recorded as contract liabilities as of January 1, 2024 was 
$33,331. Revenue recognized for the three quarters ended October 2, 2023 from amounts recorded as contract liabilities as of January 2, 2023 was 
$33,939.

Revenue from products and services transferred to customers over time and at a point in time accounted for 96% and 4%, respectively, of the 
Company’s revenue for both the quarter and three quarters ended September 30, 2024 and October 2, 2023.

Disaggregated revenue by principal end markets within reportable segments was as follows:
 

  Quarter Ended September 30, 2024   Quarter Ended October 2, 2023  

  PCB   

RF and Specialty 
Components 

(RF&S 
Components)   Total   PCB   

RF&S 
Components   Total  

  (In thousands)  
End Markets:                   
Aerospace and Defense  $ 284,275   $ —   $ 284,275   $ 255,618   $ —   $ 255,618  
Automotive   85,015    —    85,015    86,803    —    86,803  
Data Center Computing   119,299    201    119,500    99,584    —    99,584  
Medical/Industrial/Instrumentation   86,185    579    86,764    89,818    895    90,713  
Networking   32,019    8,965   40,984    31,853    8,011   39,864  
Total  $ 606,793   $ 9,745  $ 616,538   $ 563,676   $ 8,906  $ 572,582  

 
  Three Quarters Ended September 30, 2024   Three Quarters Ended October 2, 2023  

  PCB   
RF&S 

Components   Total   PCB   
RF&S 

Components   Total  
  (In thousands)  

End Markets:                   
Aerospace and Defense  $ 821,840   $ —   $ 821,840   $ 742,194   $ —   $ 742,194  
Automotive   241,330    —    241,330    272,644    —    272,644  
Data Center Computing   362,728    323    363,051    221,759    51    221,810  
Medical/Industrial/Instrumentation   251,394    2,035   253,429    279,565    2,557   282,122  
Networking   87,449    24,689    112,138    118,156    26,602    144,758  
Total  $ 1,764,741   $ 27,047   $ 1,791,788   $ 1,634,318   $ 29,210   $ 1,663,528  
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(5) Composition of Certain Consolidated Condensed Financial Statement Captions
 
  As of  
  September 30, 2024   January 1, 2024  
  (In thousands)  
Inventories:       

Raw materials  $ 179,736   $ 165,666  
Work-in-process   45,451    45,494  
Finished goods   2,726   1,915 
Inventories  $ 227,913   $ 213,075  
       

Property, plant, and equipment, net:       
Land and land use rights  $ 73,363   $ 71,131  
Buildings and improvements   513,534    512,148  
Machinery and equipment   1,090,943    986,527  
Furniture and fixtures and other   11,046    10,157  
Construction-in-progress   75,001    90,940  
Property, plant, and equipment, gross   1,763,887    1,670,903  

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (904,640 )   (863,236 )
Property, plant, and equipment, net  $ 859,247   $ 807,667  
       

Other current liabilities:       
Accrued capital expenditures  $ 15,300   $ 35,026  
Sales return and allowances   12,155    12,301  
Accrued facility operating costs   9,801   10,172  
Income taxes payable   9,197   5,466 
Housing fund   8,274   7,749 
Operating leases   7,981   8,433 
Warranty   6,619   10,557  
Interest   3,751   9,399 
Accrued professional fees   3,382   3,276 
Restructuring   817    1,179 
Derivative liabilities   —    297  
Other   44,453    36,951  
Other current liabilities  $ 121,730   $ 140,806  
       

Other long-term liabilities:       
Deferred income taxes  $ 42,454   $ 44,238  
Customer deposits   28,390    29,820  
Finance leases   12,198    12,799  
Derivative liabilities   1,414   1,476 
Defined benefit pension plan liability   704    836  
Other   26,199    24,349  
Other long-term liabilities  $ 111,359   $ 113,518  
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(6) Goodwill
Goodwill by reportable segment was as follows:
 

  PCB   RF&S Components   Total  
  (In thousands)  

As of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024          
Goodwill  $ 810,235   $ 177,200   $ 987,435  
Accumulated impairment losses   (171,400 )   (113,300 )   (284,700 )
 Carrying amount  $ 638,835   $ 63,900   $ 702,735  

(7) Definite-lived Intangibles
The components of definite-lived intangibles were as follows:
 

  Gross
Amount  

 Accumulated
Amortization  

 Net
Carrying
Amount   

Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period  

  (In thousands)   (In years)  
As of September 30, 2024             
Customer relationships  $ 324,730   $ (156,026 )  $ 168,704    11.8  
Technology   66,650    (34,285 )   32,365    8.2  
Total  $ 391,380   $ (190,311 )  $ 201,069     
             
As of January 1, 2024             
Customer relationships  $ 416,230   $ (222,766 )  $ 193,464    11.2  
Technology   66,650    (27,278 )   39,372    8.2  
Backlog   13,000    (9,750)   3,250   2.0  
Trade names   2,500   (1,875)   625    2.0  
Total  $ 498,380   $ (261,669 )  $ 236,711     

Definite-lived intangibles are amortized using the straight-line method of amortization over the useful life. Amortization expense was $9,286 and 
$35,642 for the quarter and three quarters ended September 30, 2024, respectively, and $13,764 and $47,811 for the quarter and three quarters ended 
October 2, 2023, respectively. For the quarter and three quarters ended September 30, 2024, $2,335 and $7,006, respectively, of amortization expense 
was included in cost of goods sold. For the quarter and three quarters ended October 2, 2023, $2,335 and $10,566, respectively, of amortization expense 
was included in cost of goods sold. 

In connection with the finalization of acquired identifiable intangible asset valuation during the second quarter of 2023 related to the Company's 
acquisition in 2022 of Telephonics, the Company recorded amortization expense of $20,064 related to the acquired identifiable intangible assets during 
the three quarters ended October 2, 2023 (of which $5,627 corresponded to the fiscal year ended January 2, 2023 due to the change in amortization 
period). For the three quarters ended October 2, 2023, $7,375 of amortization expense related to the acquired identifiable intangible assets was included 
in cost of goods sold (of which $2,950 corresponded to the fiscal year ended January 2, 2023).

Estimated aggregate amortization for definite-lived intangible assets for the next five years and thereafter is as follows:
 

  (In thousands)  
Remaining 2024  $ 9,250 
2025   36,897  
2026   36,897  
2027   34,543  
2028   30,997  
Thereafter   52,485  
Total  $ 201,069  
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(8) Long-term Debt and Letters of Credit 
Long-term debt was as follows:
 

  As of September 30, 2024   As of January 1, 2024  

  Interest Rate  
Principal

Outstanding   Interest Rate  
Principal

Outstanding  
  (In thousands, except interest rates)  

Senior Notes due March 2029   4.00  %  $ 500,000    4.00  %  $ 500,000  
Term Loan due May 2030   7.10     346,500    8.10     349,125  
Asia ABL Revolving Loan due June 2028   6.15     80,000    6.65     80,000  
Total debt       926,500        929,125  

Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs       (7,275)       (8,021)
Less: Unamortized debt discount       (2,951)       (3,268)
Subtotal       916,274        917,836  

Less: Current maturities       (3,465)       (3,500)
Long-term debt, less current maturities      $ 912,809       $ 914,336  

Refinancing of Term Loan Facility
On August 1, 2024, the Company entered into a First Amendment to its Amended and Restated Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of May 

30, 2023, by and among the Company, as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the several lenders from time to time 
parties thereto, pursuant to which the Company closed its $346,500 new senior secured term loan (Term Loan Facility) that bears interest at a floating 
rate of 1-month Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME) Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) plus an applicable margin of 2.25%, 50 basis 
points lower than the previous term loan facility issued in May 2023. The Term Loan Facility is issued at par, maintains the same maturity of May 30, 
2030 as the previous term loan facility, and the majority is a cashless rollover from the previous term loan facility.

Debt Covenants
Borrowings under the Senior Notes due March 2029 and Term Loan Facility are subject to certain affirmative and negative covenants, including 

limitations on indebtedness, corporate transactions, investments, dispositions, and restricted payments.

Under the occurrence of certain events, the U.S. Asset-Based Lending Credit Agreement (U.S. ABL) and Asia Asset-Based Lending Credit 
Agreement (Asia ABL) (collectively, the ABL Revolving Loans) are subject to various financial covenants, including leverage and fixed charge coverage 
ratios.

Debt Issuance Costs and Debt Discount
Remaining unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discount were as follows:
 

  As of September 30, 2024  As of January 1, 2024

 
 

Debt
Issuance 

Costs
 

 

Debt
Discount  

 

Effective
Interest Rate  

Debt
Issuance 

Costs
 

 

Debt
Discount  

 

Effective
Interest Rate

  (In thousands, except interest rates)
Senior Notes due March 2029  $ 3,546  $ —    4.18  %  $ 4,085  $ —    4.18  %
Term Loan due May 2030   3,729   2,951   8.01     3,936   3,268   8.26   
Total  $ 7,275  $ 2,951      $ 8,021  $ 3,268     

The above debt issuance costs and debt discount are recorded as a reduction of the debt and are amortized into interest expense using an 
effective interest rate over the duration of the debt.

The remaining unamortized debt issuance costs for the ABL Revolving Loans of $1,329 and $1,603 as of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 
2024, respectively, are included in deposits and other non-current assets and are amortized to interest expense over the duration of the ABL Revolving 
Loans using the straight-line method of amortization. 

As of September 30, 2024, the remaining weighted average amortization period for all unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discount was 
5.1 years.
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(9) Income Taxes 
The Company’s effective tax rate is impacted by the mix of foreign and U.S. income, tax rates in China and Hong Kong, the U.S. federal income 

tax rate, apportioned state income tax rates, the generation of credits, and deductions available to the Company as well as changes in valuation 
allowances and certain non-deductible items. No tax benefit was recorded on the losses incurred in certain foreign jurisdictions as a result of 
corresponding increases in the valuation allowances in these jurisdictions.

During the quarter and three quarters ended September 30, 2024, the Company’s effective tax rate was impacted by a net discrete expense of 
$610 and net discrete benefit of $2,251, respectively. This was primarily due to the finalization of the Hong Kong corporate income tax return and 
accrued interest expense on existing uncertain tax positions in the quarter ended September 30, 2024, which was offset by a windfall tax benefit of the 
stock-based compensation releases in the quarter ended July 1, 2024.

The Company has various foreign subsidiaries formed or acquired to conduct or support its business outside the U.S. The Company expects its 
earnings attributable to most foreign subsidiaries may be repatriated back to the U.S. and so a deferred tax liability has been recorded for foreign 
withholding taxes and the estimated federal/state tax impact on any repatriation. For those other companies with earnings currently being reinvested 
outside of the U.S., no deferred tax liability on undistributed earnings has been recorded.

(10) Segment Information 
The Company’s reportable segments are the segments for which separate financial information is available and upon which operating results are 

evaluated by the chief operating decision maker to assess performance and to allocate resources.

The Company, including the chief operating decision maker, evaluates segment performance based on reportable segment income, which is 
operating income before amortization of intangibles. Interest expense and interest income are not presented by segment since they are not included in 
the measure of segment profitability reviewed by the chief operating decision maker. All inter‑segment transactions have been eliminated. Net sales by 
segment, operating segment income, and segment assets were as follows:

 
  Quarter Ended   Three Quarters Ended   
  September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023   September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023   
  (In thousands)

Net Sales:              
PCB  $ 606,793   $ 563,676   $ 1,764,741   $ 1,634,318   

RF&S Components   9,745   8,906   27,047    29,210   
Total net sales  $ 616,538   $ 572,582   $ 1,791,788   $ 1,663,528   

Operating Segment Income:              
PCB  $ 96,659   $ 82,868   $ 257,238   $ 192,981   
RF&S Components   2,427   (41,441 )   6,141   (36,071 )  
Corporate and Other   (38,838 )   (37,865 )   (120,722 )   (101,361 )  

Total operating segment income   60,248    3,562   142,657    55,549   
Amortization of definite-lived intangibles   (9,286)   (13,764 )   (35,642 )   (47,811 )  

Total operating income (loss)   50,962    (10,202 )   107,015    7,738  
Total other expense, net   (25,945 )   (7,057)   (37,397 )   (25,325 )  

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ 25,017   $ (17,259 )  $ 69,618   $ (17,587 )  
 

  As of  
  September 30, 2024   January 1, 2024  
  (In thousands)  

Segment Assets:       
PCB  $ 2,168,242   $ 2,032,202  
RF&S Components   134,832    142,520  
Corporate and Other   1,115,744    1,148,941  

Total assets  $ 3,418,818   $ 3,323,663  
 

(1)Amortization of definite-lived intangibles relates to the PCB and RF&S Components reportable segments. For the quarter and three quarters ended September 30, 2024, $2,335 and $7,006, 

respectively, of amortization expense is included in cost of goods sold. For the quarter and three quarters ended October 2, 2023, $2,335 and $10,566, respectively, of amortization expense is 

included in cost of goods sold.

During the quarter and three quarters ended October 2, 2023, the Company recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $44,100 related to 
its RF&S Components reportable segment.

(1)
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The Corporate and Other category primarily includes operating expenses that are not included in the segment operating performance measures. 
Corporate and Other consists primarily of corporate governance functions such as finance, accounting, information technology, and human resources 
personnel, as well as global sales and marketing personnel, research and development costs, and acquisition and integration costs associated with 
acquisitions and divestitures.

The Company markets and sells its products in approximately 60 countries. Other than in the United States and Taiwan, the Company does not 
conduct business in any country in which its net sales in that country exceed 10% of the Company’s total net sales. Net sales are attributed to countries 
by country invoiced and were as follows:

 
  Quarter Ended   Three Quarters Ended  
  September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023   September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023  
  (In thousands)  

Net Sales:             
United States  $ 316,508   $ 319,105   $ 926,241   $ 949,668  
Taiwan   63,607    55,368    206,462    120,750  
Other   236,423    198,109    659,085    593,110  

Total net sales  $ 616,538   $ 572,582   $ 1,791,788   $ 1,663,528  

(11) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, were as follows:

 

 
 

Foreign
Currency

Translation   
Pension

Obligation   
Cash Flow

Hedges   Total  
  (In thousands)  

Balance as of January 1, 2024  $ (32,860 )  $ 2,530  $ 1,263  $ (29,067 )
Other comprehensive (loss) income 
   before reclassifications

  (533 )   —    835    302  
Amounts reclassified from accumulated 
   other comprehensive loss   —    —    (2,579)   (2,579)
Net year to date other comprehensive loss   (533 )   —    (1,744)   (2,277)

Balance as of September 30, 2024  $ (33,393 )  $ 2,530  $ (481 )  $ (31,344 )

(12) Stock-Based Compensation 
Performance-based Restricted Stock Units 

The Company maintains a long-term incentive program for executives that provides for the issuance of performance-based restricted stock units 
(PRUs), representing hypothetical shares of the Company’s common stock that may be issued. Under the PRU program, a target number of PRUs is 
awarded at the beginning of each three-year performance period. The number of shares of common stock released at the end of the performance period 
depends on performance during the period and may range from zero to 2.4 times the target number for PRUs awarded before 2023 and zero to 2.0 
times the target number for PRUs awarded in 2023 and thereafter. For PRUs awarded before 2023, the performance metrics of the PRU program are 
based on (a) annual financial targets, which are based on revenue and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization expense (EBITDA), 
each equally weighted, and (b) an overall modifier based on the Company’s total stockholder return (TSR) relative to a group of peer companies selected 
by the Company’s compensation committee, over the three‑year performance period. For PRUs awarded in 2023 and thereafter, the performance 
metrics of the PRU program are based on (a) annual financial targets, which are based on revenue and EBITDA, each equally weighted, and (b) the 
three-year TSR performance result, which will be an additive component to the Company’s financial results of the aggregated three-year measurement 
period. 

Under the PRU program, financial goals with respect to one or more target milestones are set at the beginning of each fiscal year and 
performance is reviewed at the end of that year. The percentage to be applied to each participant’s target award ranges from zero to 160% for PRUs 
awarded before 2023 and zero to 200% for PRUs awarded in 2023 and thereafter, based upon the extent to which the target milestones are achieved. If 
specific performance threshold levels for the target milestones are met, the amount earned for that element over the three-year performance period will 
be applied equally for PRUs awarded before 2023 and 80% for PRUs awarded in 2023 and thereafter, of the participants’ PRU award to determine the 
number of units earned.
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At the end of the three-year performance period, the total units earned, if any, are adjusted by the TSR calculation. The TSR calculation is a 
percentage ranging from zero to 150% for PRUs awarded before 2023 and zero to 200% for PRUs awarded in 2023 and thereafter, determined on the 
Company’s TSR based on stock price changes relative to a group of peer companies selected by the Company’s compensation committee for the same 
three-year period. For outstanding PRU awards granted before 2023, the TSR is used as an overall modifier of the three-year performance period such 
that the base calculations are multiplied by the TSR modifier, ranging from zero to 200%, based on the relative performance of the Company’s stock 
price as compared to its TSR peer group. For PRUs awarded in 2023 and thereafter, the TSR calculation will be applied to 20% of the participants’ PRU 
award to determine the number of additional units earned.

Stock-based Compensation Expense and Unrecognized Compensation Costs
Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the accompanying consolidated condensed statements of operations was as follows:

 
  Quarter Ended   Three Quarters Ended  
  September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023   September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023  
  (In thousands)  

Cost of goods sold  $ 2,719  $ 2,212  $ 6,689  $ 5,371 
Selling and marketing   1,087   888    2,791   2,327 
General and administrative   4,192   2,958   11,255    8,197 
Research and development   332    309    962    833  
Total  $ 8,330  $ 6,367  $ 21,697   $ 16,728  

A summary of total unrecognized compensation costs as of September 30, 2024 was as follows:
 

  
Unrecognized

Compensation Costs   
Remaining Weighted Average

Recognition Period  
  (In thousands)   (In years)  

Restricted stock unit (RSU) awards  $ 49,754    1.5  
PRU awards   6,268   1.7  
Total  $ 56,022     

(13) Fair Value Measures 
The Company measures at fair value its financial and non-financial assets by using a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation 

techniques used to measure fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, essentially an exit price, based on the highest and best use of the asset or liability. 

The carrying amount and estimated fair value of the Company’s financial instruments were as follows:
 

  As of September 30, 2024   As of January 1, 2024  
  Carrying Amount   Fair Value   Carrying Amount   Fair Value  
  (In thousands)  

Derivative assets, current  $ 1,810  $ 1,810  $ 3,282  $ 3,282 
Derivative liabilities, current   —    —    297    297  
Derivative liabilities, non-current   1,414   1,414   1,476   1,476 
Senior Notes due March 2029   496,454    474,415    495,915    455,035  
Term Loan due May 2030   339,820    347,799    341,921    351,743  
ABL Revolving Loans   80,000    80,000    80,000    80,000  

The fair value of the derivative instruments was determined using pricing models developed based on the 1-month CME Term SOFR swap rate, 
foreign currency exchange rates, and other observable market data, including quoted market prices, as appropriate using Level 2 inputs. The values were 
adjusted to reflect non-performance risk of both the counterparty and the Company, as necessary.

The fair value of the long-term debt was estimated based on quoted market prices or discounting the debt over its life using current market rates 
for similar debt as of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024, which are considered Level 2 inputs. 

As of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024, the Company’s other financial instruments included cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, contract assets, accounts payable, and contract liabilities. The carrying amount of these instruments approximates fair value.
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The majority of the Company’s non-financial assets and liabilities, which include goodwill, intangible assets, inventories, and property, plant, and 
equipment, are not required to be carried at fair value on a recurring basis. However, if certain triggering events occur (or are tested at least annually in 
the case of goodwill) such that a non-financial instrument is required to be evaluated for impairment, based upon a comparison of the non-financial 
instrument’s fair value to its carrying value, an impairment is recorded to reduce the carrying value to the fair value, if the carrying value exceeds the fair 
value.

(14) Commitments and Contingencies 
Legal Matters 

The Company is subject to various legal matters, which it considers normal for its business activities. While the Company currently believes that 
the amount of any reasonably possible loss for known matters would not be material to the Company’s financial condition, the outcome of these actions 
is inherently difficult to predict. In the event of an adverse outcome, the ultimate potential loss could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
financial condition or results of operations in a particular period. The Company has accrued amounts for its loss contingencies which are probable and 
estimable as of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024 and included as a component of other current liabilities. However, these amounts are not 
material to the consolidated condensed financial statements of the Company.

Offset Agreements
The Company has and may continue to enter into industrial cooperation agreements, sometimes referred to as offset agreements, as a condition 

to obtaining orders for products and services from customers in foreign countries. These agreements are intended to promote investment in the 
applicable country, and the Company’s obligations under these agreements may be satisfied through activities that do not require the Company to use 
cash, including transferring technology or providing manufacturing and other consulting support. The obligations under these agreements may also be 
satisfied through the use of cash for activities such as purchasing supplies from in-country vendors, setting up support centers, research and 
development investments, acquisitions, and building or leasing facilities for in-country operations. The amount of the offset requirement is determined by 
contract value awarded and negotiated percentages with customers. As of September 30, 2024, the Company had outstanding offset agreements of 
approximately $27,268, some of which extend through 2028. Offset programs usually extend over several years and in some cases provide for penalties 
in the event the Company fails to perform in accordance with contract requirements. To date, the Company has not been obligated to pay any such 
penalties.

Supplier Finance Program Obligations 
The Company has agreements with financial institutions to facilitate payments to certain suppliers. Under the terms of the agreements, the 

Company confirms the validity of each supplier invoice to the respective financial institution upon receipt. The supplier receives payment from the 
financial institution, and the Company pays the financial institution based on the terms negotiated, which generally range from 160 days to 360 days. 
Liabilities associated with these agreements are recorded in accounts payable on the consolidated condensed balance sheets and amounted to $18,278 
and $18,832 as of September 30, 2024 and January 1, 2024, respectively.

(15) Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
The reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used to calculate basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share is as follows:
 

  Quarter Ended   Three Quarters Ended  
  September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023   September 30, 2024   October 2, 2023  
  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  
Net income (loss)  $ 14,311   $ (37,066 )  $ 51,129   $ (36,056 )
             
Basic weighted average shares   101,958    103,510    101,704    102,873  
Dilutive effect of PRUs, RSUs, and 
    stock options   1,870   —    2,224   —  
Diluted shares   103,828    103,510    103,928    102,873  
Earnings (loss) per share:             
Basic  $ 0.14   $ (0.36 )  $ 0.50   $ (0.35 )
Diluted  $ 0.14   $ (0.36 )  $ 0.49   $ (0.35 )
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PRUs, RSUs, and stock options to purchase 144 and 166 shares of common stock for the quarter and three quarters ended September 30, 2024, 
respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share. The PRUs were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per 
share because the performance conditions had not been met at September 30, 2024, and for the RSUs and stock options, the options’ exercise prices or 
the total expected proceeds under the treasury stock method was greater than the average market price of common stock during the applicable quarter 
and three quarters and, as a result, the impact would be anti-dilutive.

For the quarter and three quarters ended October 2, 2023, potential shares of common stock, consisting of stock options to purchase 60 shares of 
common stock at exercise prices ranging from $11.83 to $16.60 per share and 697 PRUs were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per 
share because the Company incurred a net loss and as a result, the impact would be anti‑dilutive. For the quarter and three quarters ended October 2, 
2023, potential shares of common stock consisting of 3,533 and 3,204 RSUs, respectively were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per 
share because the Company incurred a net loss and as a result, the impact would be anti-dilutive.

(16) Restructuring Charges
On February 8, 2023, the Company announced a consolidation plan, pursuant to which the Company ceased operations at three of its 

manufacturing facilities during the fiscal year ended January 1, 2024 and consolidated the operations of those facilities into other Company facilities. The 
three manufacturing facilities were PCB operations located in Anaheim and Santa Clara, California, and Hong Kong. The Company recorded $26,637 of 
restructuring charges and $6,032 of accelerated depreciation since the February 8, 2023 announcement.

In addition to this consolidation plan, the Company recognized employee separation, contract termination, and other costs during the quarter and 
three quarters ended September 30, 2024 and October 2, 2023 in connection with other global realignment restructuring efforts. Contract termination and 
other costs primarily represented plant closure costs.

Restructuring costs by reportable segment were as follows:
 

  Quarter Ended September 30, 2024   Quarter Ended October 2, 2023  

 

 

Employee
Separation/
Severance   

Contract
Termination

and Other Costs   Total   

Employee
Separation/
Severance   

Contract
Termination
and Other 

Costs   Total  
  (In thousands)  
Reportable Segment:    

 
  

 
           

PCB  $ 139   $ 1,269  $ 1,408  $ 1,924  $ 2,167  $ 4,091 
Corporate and Other   —    (15)   (15)   —    —    —  
Total  

$ 139   $ 1,254  $ 1,393  $ 1,924  $ 2,167  $ 4,091 
 

  Three Quarters Ended September 30, 2024   Three Quarters Ended October 2, 2023  

 

 

Employee
Separation/
Severance   

Contract
Termination

and Other Costs   Total   

Employee
Separation/
Severance   

Contract
Termination
and Other 

Costs   Total  
  (In thousands)  
Reportable Segment:    

 
  

 
           

PCB  $ 139   $ 6,212  $ 6,351  $ 13,066   $ 5,352  $ 18,418  
RF&S Components   —    —    —    14    —    14  
Corporate and Other   —    16    16    305    324    629  
Total  

$ 139   $ 6,228  $ 6,367  $ 13,385   $ 5,676  $ 19,061  

Accrued restructuring costs are included as a component of other current liabilities in the consolidated condensed balance sheet. The utilization of 
the accrued restructuring costs was as follows:

 

 

 

Employee
Separation/
Severance   

Contract
Termination

and Other Costs   Total  
  (In thousands)  
Accrued as of January 1, 2024  $ 994   $ 185   $ 1,179 

Charged to expense   139    6,228   6,367 
Amount paid   (416 )   (6,313)   (6,729)

Accrued as of September 30, 2024  $ 717   $ 100   $ 817  
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Report) contains forward-looking statements regarding future events or our future financial and operational 
performance. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding markets for our products; trends in net sales, gross profits, and estimated 
expense levels; liquidity and anticipated cash needs and availability; and any statement that contains the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “plan,” “forecast,” 
“foresee,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,” “seek,” “target,” “intend,” “goal,” and other similar expressions. The forward-looking statements included in this 
report reflect our current expectations and beliefs, and we do not undertake publicly to update or revise these statements, even if experience or future 
changes make it clear that any projected results expressed in this report or future quarterly reports to stockholders, press releases, or company 
statements will not be realized. In addition, the inclusion of any statement in this report does not constitute an admission by us that the events or 
circumstances described in such statement are material. Furthermore, we wish to caution and advise readers that these statements are based on 
assumptions that may not materialize and may involve risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, that could cause actual events or 
performance to differ materially from those contained or implied in these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include the risks 
identified under the heading "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2024, as updated by our other filings 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), and described elsewhere in this Report. The following discussion and analysis of our financial 
condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated condensed financial statements and the related notes and the 
other financial information included in this Report, as well as the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2024, filed with the SEC.

COMPANY OVERVIEW 
We are a leading global manufacturer of technology solutions including mission systems, radio frequency (RF) components, RF 

microwave/microelectronic assemblies, and quick-turn and technologically advanced printed circuit boards (PCB). We focus on providing time-to-market 
and volume production of advanced technology products and offer a one-stop design, engineering, and manufacturing solution to our customers. This 
solution allows us to align technology development with the diverse needs of our customers and to enable them to reduce the time required to develop 
new products and bring them to market. We serve a diversified customer base consisting of approximately 1,500 customers in various markets 
throughout the world, including aerospace and defense, data center computing, automotive, medical, industrial and instrumentation, and networking. Our 
customers include original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), electronic manufacturing services (EMS) providers, original design manufacturers (ODMs), 
distributors, and government agencies (both domestic and allied foreign governments).

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
On August 1, 2024, we entered into a First Amendment to our Amended and Restated Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2023, by 

and among us, as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the several lenders from time to time parties thereto, pursuant to 
which we closed our $346.5 million new senior secured term loan (Term Loan Facility) that bears interest at a floating rate of 1-month Chicago Mercantile 
Exchange (CME) Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) plus an applicable margin of 2.25%, 50 basis points lower than our previous term loan 
facility issued in May 2023. The Term Loan Facility amends and restates our previous term loan facility. The Term Loan Facility is issued at par, 
maintains the same maturity of May 30, 2030 as the previous term loan facility, and the majority is a cashless rollover from the previous term loan facility.

On November 1, 2023, we announced our selection of Syracuse, New York as the location for a new proposed advanced technology PCB 
manufacturing facility. We expect that the proposed facility will bring advanced technology capability for our domestic high-volume production of ultra-
high-density interconnect (HDI) PCBs in support of national security requirements. We believe the planned investment aligns with New York State’s 
continuing focus on the region as a premier technology hub for U.S. electronics and the recent selection of Buffalo-Rochester-Syracuse (BRS) for the 
Federal Tech Hub designation. The project reflects our support for cultivating a stronger microelectronics ecosystem in New York and across the U.S. 
Aerospace and Defense industrial base. We have broken ground on the 24-acre property adjacent to our existing facility in Syracuse for the campus 
expansion and the site for the new facility, and we expect initial low rate production within 18 to 24 months. Phase one of the proposed project, including 
capital for campus-wide improvements is estimated to be $100.0 million to $130.0 million, and we expect to receive support in the form of grants, awards, 
and tax credits from both Federal and New York State sources of approximately $52.0 million in the aggregate, subject to certain requirements and 
contingencies, which would serve to offset the initial capital investment and lower operating expenses.

In addition, we also have plans to consolidate two smaller PCB facilities in Elizabeth City, North Carolina and Huntington, New York into existing 
facilities in order to improve efficiencies. This consolidation will occur over the next three quarters and is not expected to have a material impact on our 
results of operations, cash flows, or financial position.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
While our customers include both OEMs and EMS providers, we measure customers based on OEM companies, as they are the ultimate end 

customers. Sales to our ten largest customers collectively accounted for 54% and 53% of our net sales for the quarter and three quarters ended 
September 30, 2024, respectively. Sales to our ten largest customers collectively accounted for 53% and 50% of our net sales for the quarter and three 
quarters ended October 2, 2023, respectively. We sell to OEMs both directly and indirectly through EMS providers.

The percentage of our net sales attributable to each of the principal end markets we served was as follows:
 

  Quarter Ended  Three Quarters Ended
  September 30, 2024  October 2, 2023  September 30, 2024  October 2, 2023
End Markets :                 

Aerospace and Defense   46  %  45  %  46  %  45  %
Automotive   14     15     14     16   
Data Center Computing

  19     17     20     13   
Medical/Industrial/Instrumentation   14     16     14     17   
Networking   7     7     6     9   

Total   100  %  100  %  100  %  100  %
 

(1)Sales to EMS companies are classified by the end markets of their OEM customers.

We derive revenues primarily from the sale of PCBs, engineered systems using customer-supplied engineering and design plans as well as our 
long-term contracts related to the design and manufacture of highly sophisticated intelligence, surveillance, and communications solutions, and RF and 
microwave/microelectronics components, assemblies, and subsystems. Orders for products generally correspond to the production schedules of our 
customers and are supported with firm purchase orders. Our customers have continuous control of the work in progress and finished goods throughout 
the PCB and engineered systems manufacturing process, as these are built to customer specifications with no alternative use, and there is an 
enforceable right of payment for work performed to date. As a result, we recognize revenue progressively over time based on the extent of progress 
towards completion of the performance obligation. We recognize revenue based on a cost method as it best depicts the transfer of control to the 
customer which takes place as we incur costs. Revenues are recorded proportionally as costs are incurred. 

We also manufacture certain components, assemblies, subsystems, and completed systems which service our RF and Specialty Components 
(RF&S Components) customers and certain aerospace and defense customers. We recognize revenue at a point in time upon transfer of control of the 
products to our customer. Point in time recognition was determined as our customers do not simultaneously receive or consume the benefits provided by 
our performance and the asset being manufactured has alternative uses to us.

Net sales consist of gross sales less an allowance for returns, which typically have been approximately 2% of gross sales. We provide our 
customers a limited right of return for defective PCBs including components, subsystems, and assemblies. We record an estimate for sales returns and 
allowances at the time of sale based on historical results and anticipated returns. 

Cost of goods sold consists of materials, labor, outside services, and overhead expenses incurred in the manufacture and testing of our products. 
Shipping and handling fees and related freight costs and supplies associated with shipping products are also included as a component of cost of goods 
sold. Many factors affect our gross margin, including capacity utilization, product mix, production volume, supply chain costs, and yield. 

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, labor related benefits, and commissions paid to our internal sales force, independent 
sales representatives, and our sales support staff, as well as costs associated with marketing materials and trade shows. 

General and administrative costs primarily include the salaries for executive, finance, accounting, information technology, and human resources 
personnel, as well as expenses for accounting and legal assistance, incentive compensation expense, and gains or losses on the sale or disposal of 
property, plant, and equipment.

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and labor related benefits paid to our research and development staff, as well as 
material costs.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 
Our consolidated condensed financial statements included in this Report have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, net sales and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. 

(1)
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See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended January 1, 2024 for further discussion of critical accounting policies and estimates. There were no material changes to our critical 
accounting policies and estimates since January 1, 2024.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
The relationship of various items to net sales in our consolidated condensed statements of operations was as follows:
 

  Quarter Ended  Three Quarters Ended
  September 30, 2024  October 2, 2023  September 30, 2024  October 2, 2023

Net sales   100.0  %   100.0  %   100.0  %   100.0  %
Cost of goods sold   78.9     80.2     80.4     82.1   

Gross profit   21.1     19.8     19.6     17.9   
Operating expenses:                 

Selling and marketing   3.2     3.3     3.4     3.5   
General and administrative   6.9     6.8     7.0     6.7   
Research and development   1.3     1.1     1.3     1.2   
Amortization of definite-lived intangibles   1.1     2.0     1.6     2.2   
Impairment of goodwill   —     7.7     —     2.7   
Restructuring charges   0.3     0.7     0.3     1.1   

Total operating expenses   12.8     21.6     13.6     17.4   
Operating income (loss)   8.3     (1.8 )    6.0     0.5   
Other (expense) income:                 

Interest expense   (1.9 )    (1.8 )    (2.0 )    (2.1 )  
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —     —     —     (0.1 )  
Gain on sale of subsidiary   —     —     —     0.1   
Other, net   (2.3 )    0.5     (0.1 )    0.6   

Total other expense, net   (4.2 )    (1.3 )    (2.1 )    (1.5 )  
Income (loss) before income taxes   4.1     (3.1 )    3.9     (1.0 )  
Income tax provision   (1.8 )    (3.5 )    (1.0 )    (1.1 )  
Net income (loss)   2.3  %   (6.6 ) %   2.9  %   (2.1 ) %

The following discussion and analysis is for the quarter and three quarters ended September 30, 2024, compared to the quarter and three quarters ended 
October 2, 2023, unless otherwise stated.

Net Sales 
Total net sales increased $43.9 million, or 7.7%, to $616.5 million for the third quarter of 2024 from $572.6 million for the third quarter of 2023. The 

increase in total net sales primarily resulted from an increase in net sales for the PCB reportable segment of $43.1 million, or 7.6%, to $606.8 million for 
the third quarter of 2024 from $563.7 million for the third quarter of 2023. The primary driver of this increase was demand growth in our aerospace and 
defense and data center computing end markets as well as demand recovery in our networking end market, partially offset by demand weakness in our 
medical, industrial, and instrumentation and automotive end markets. Net sales for the RF&S Components reportable segment increased $0.8 million, or 
9.4%, to $9.7 million for the third quarter of 2024 from $8.9 million for the third quarter of 2023, which was primarily due to higher demand in our 
networking end market.

Total net sales increased $128.3 million, or 7.7%, to $1,791.8 million for the first three quarters of 2024 from $1,663.5 million for the first three 
quarters of 2023. This increase in total net sales primarily resulted from an increase in net sales for the PCB reportable segment of $130.4 million, or 
8.0%, to $1,764.7 million for the first three quarters of 2024 from $1,634.3 million for the first three quarters of 2023. The primary driver of this increase 
was demand growth in our data center computing and aerospace and defense end markets, partially offset by demand weakness in our automotive, 
networking, and medical, industrial, and instrumentation end markets, and by the sale of our Shanghai backplane business in the first quarter of 2023, 
which had the effect of reducing $8.4 million of net sales when comparing the first three quarters of 2024 to the first three quarters of 2023. Net sales for 
the RF&S Components reportable segment decreased $2.2 million, or 7.4%, to $27.0 million for the first three quarters of 2024 from $29.2 million for the 
first three quarters of 2023, which was primarily due to lower demand in our networking end market. 

Gross Margin 
Overall gross margin increased to 21.1% for the third quarter of 2024 from 19.8% for the third quarter of 2023. The increase in overall gross 

margin was due to the increase in gross margin for the PCB reportable segment to 21.9% for the third quarter of 2024 from 21.1% for the third quarter of 
2023. This increase was due to higher sales volume, particularly in the aerospace and defense and data center computing end markets, and improved 
operational execution. Gross margin for the RF&S Components reportable segment decreased to 50.4% for the third quarter of 2024 from 56.4% for the 
third quarter of 2023, primarily due to unfavorable product mix.
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Overall gross margin increased to 19.6% for the first three quarters of 2024 from 17.9% for the first three quarters of 2023. The increase in overall 
gross margin was due to the increase in gross margin for the PCB reportable segment to 20.5% for the first three quarters of 2024 from 18.8% for the first 
three quarters of 2023. This increase was due to higher sales volume, particularly in the aerospace and defense and data center computing end markets, 
and improved operational execution. Gross margin for the RF&S Components reportable segment decreased to 49.3% for the first three quarters of 2024 
from 54.3% for the first three quarters of 2023, primarily due to lower sales.

An important factor affecting gross margins is capacity utilization, which is measured by the actual production as a percentage of maximum 
capacity. This measure is particularly important in our high-volume PCB facilities in Asia, as a significant portion of our operating costs are fixed in nature. 
We believe that our North America utilization figures are not as meaningful as Asia because bottlenecks in these high mix low volume facilities tend to 
occur in areas outside of plating, which is the core process that we use for calculating utilization rates. Capacity utilization for the third quarter of 2024 in 
our Asia and North America PCB facilities was 60% and 35%, respectively, compared to 46% and 38%, respectively, for the third quarter of 2023. 
Capacity utilization for the first three quarters of 2024 in our Asia and North America PCB facilities was 59% and 37%, respectively, compared to 48% 
and 39%, respectively, for the first three quarters of 2023. The increase in capacity utilization in our Asia PCB facilities was due to continued strong data 
center demand. 

Selling and Marketing Expenses
Selling and marketing expenses increased $1.2 million to $20.0 million, or 3.2% of net sales, for the third quarter of 2024 from $18.8 million, or 

3.3% of net sales, for the third quarter of 2023. The increase in selling and marketing expenses was primarily due to higher labor costs and stock-based 
compensation. Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of net sales decreased as a result of higher net sales.

Selling and marketing expenses increased $1.8 million to $60.1 million, or 3.4% of net sales, for the first three quarters of 2024 from $58.2 million, 
or 3.5% of net sales, for the first three quarters of 2023. The increase in selling and marketing expenses was primarily due to higher labor costs, stock-
based compensation, and travel costs, partially offset by a decrease in commissions. Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of net sales 
decreased as a result of higher net sales.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses increased $3.7 million to $42.6 million, or 6.9% of net sales, for the third quarter of 2024 from $38.9 million, 

or 6.8% of net sales, for the third quarter of 2023. The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to increases in consulting 
expenses, labor costs, and stock-based compensation, partially offset by decreases in spending on supplies. 

General and administrative expenses increased $13.0 million to $124.8 million, or 7.0% of net sales, for the first three quarters of 2024 from 
$111.8 million, or 6.7% of net sales, for the first three quarters of 2023. The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to 
increases in consulting and legal expenses, labor costs, stock-based compensation, bad debt, incentive compensation, and the write down of our Hong 
Kong building of $6.1 million, partially offset by gains on the sale of assets primarily related to the sale of two buildings vacated by the closure of our 
Anaheim and Santa Clara plants of $14.4 million and decreases in spending on supplies.

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses increased $1.9 million to $8.1 million, or 1.3% of net sales, for the third quarter of 2024 from $6.2 million, or 

1.1% of net sales, for the third quarter of 2023. The increase in research and development expenses was primarily due to increases in labor costs and 
research and development projects.

Research and development expenses increased $4.2 million to $23.9 million, or 1.3% of net sales, for the first three quarters of 2024 from $19.7 
million, or 1.2% of net sales, for the first three quarters of 2023. The increase in research and development expenses was primarily due to increases in 
labor costs and research and development projects.

Total Other Expense, Net
Total other expense, net increased $18.9 million to $25.9 million for the third quarter of 2024 from $7.1 million for the third quarter of 2023. During 

the third quarter of 2024, there was a $17.8 million foreign exchange loss, compared to a $0.9 million foreign exchange gain in the third quarter of 2023. 
We utilize the Chinese Renminbi (RMB) and Malaysian Ringgit (MYR) at our China and Malaysia facilities, respectively, for employee-related and other 
costs of running our operations in foreign countries. However, the current year impact was primarily driven by $14.3 million of unrealized foreign 
exchange losses from translation of our China and Malaysia balance sheets from local currency into the U.S. dollar functional currency, which 
experienced significant devaluation against the RMB and MYR during the third quarter of 2024 as compared to the third quarter of 2023. Interest expense 
increased $1.7 million in the third quarter of 2024 as compared to the same period of 2023, partially offset by a $1.0 million increase in interest income. 
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Total other expense, net increased $12.1 million to $37.4 million for the first three quarters of 2024 from $25.3 million for the first three quarters of 
2023. This increase was primarily due to the foreign currency impacts discussed in the paragraph above, which resulted in a $12.9 million foreign 
currency loss in the first three quarters of 2024 ($12.0 million of which was unrealized) as compared to a $3.1 million foreign currency gain in the first 
three quarters of 2023 ($4.1 million of which was unrealized). Interest expense increased $1.6 million in the first three quarters of 2024 as compared to 
the same period of 2023, partially offset by a $4.3 million increase in interest income and government subsidies of $0.8 million.

Income Taxes 
Income tax expense decreased $9.1 million to $10.7 million for the third quarter of 2024 from $19.8 million for the third quarter of 2023. The 

decrease in income tax expense was primarily due to a change in the mix of projected foreign and U.S. income resulting in a decrease in our effective tax 
rate. Such decrease was partially offset by the finalization of Hong Kong corporate income tax returns and the absence in the third quarter of 2024 of 
finalization of the U.S. income tax return.

Income tax expense stayed constant at $18.5 million for the first three quarters of 2024 compared to the first three quarters of 2023, but with 
changes in the components. The changes in income tax expense components for the first three quarters of 2024 was primarily due to a windfall tax 
benefit of the stock-based compensation releases and a net tax benefit of the finalization of China, Canada, and Hong Kong corporate income tax 
returns, which was offset by the absence of the release of uncertain tax position benefits and finalization of the U.S. income tax return that existed in the 
first three quarters of 2023.

Our effective tax rate is primarily impacted by the mix of foreign and U.S. income, tax rates in China and Hong Kong, the U.S. federal income tax 
rate, apportioned state income tax rates, the generation of credits and deductions available to us as well as changes in valuation allowances and certain 
non-deductible items. We had a net deferred income tax liability of $40.4 million and $56.8 million as of September 30, 2024 and October 2, 2023, 
respectively. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal sources of liquidity have been cash provided by operations, the issuance of debt, and borrowings under our revolving credit facility. 

Our principal uses of cash have been to finance capital expenditures, finance acquisitions, fund working capital requirements, repay debt obligations, and 
repurchase common stock. We anticipate that financing capital expenditures, financing acquisitions, funding working capital requirements, servicing debt, 
and repurchasing common stock will be the principal demands on our cash in the future.

Cash flow provided by operating activities during the first three quarters of 2024 was $150.8 million as compared to cash flow provided by 
operating activities of $139.8 million in the same period in 2023. The increase in cash flow was primarily due to an increase in net income of $87.2 million 
partially offset by an increased investment in working capital.

Net cash used in investing activities during the first three quarters of 2024 was $93.4 million, primarily resulting from the use of $129.7 million for 
purchases of property, plant and equipment and other assets. This is partially offset by the receipt of $29.6 million of proceeds from the sale of property, 
plant, and equipment and other assets primarily related to the sale of two buildings vacated by the closure of our Anaheim and Santa Clara plants and 
$6.7 million of proceeds from the sale of property associated with our Shanghai E‑MS subsidiary. Net cash used in investing activities was approximately 
$46.1 million for the first three quarters of 2023, primarily reflecting the use of $114.2 million for purchases of property, plant, and equipment and other 
assets, partially offset by the receipt of $61.8 million of proceeds from the sale of property associated with our Shanghai E‑MS subsidiary and $6.0 million 
of proceeds from the sale of our Shanghai Backplane Assembly subsidiary, net of cash disposed.

Net cash used in financing activities during the first three quarters of 2024 was $38.2 million reflecting the use of $34.5 million for repurchases of 
common stock, $8.7 million for the repayment of long-term debt borrowings, and $1.1 million for payment of debt issuance costs, partially offset by $6.1 
million of proceeds from long-term debt borrowings related to the refinancing of our Term Loan Facility. Net cash used in financing activities during the 
first three quarters of 2023 was $87.9 million, primarily reflecting repayment of long-term debt borrowings of $291.5 million, repurchases of common stock 
of $14.6 million, refunding of customer deposits of $7.5 million, payment of debt issuance costs of $5.5 million, and payment of the original issue discount 
of $3.5 million, partially offset by the receipt of proceeds from long-term debt borrowing of $234.8 million.

As of September 30, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $469.5 million, of which $189.0 million was held by our foreign subsidiaries, 
primarily in China. Should we choose to remit cash to the United States from our foreign locations, we may incur tax obligations which would reduce the 
amount of cash ultimately available to the United States. However, we believe there would be no material tax consequences not previously accrued for 
the repatriation of this cash.

Our total 2024 capital expenditures are expected to be in the range of $175.0 million to $195.0 million.
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Share Repurchases
On May 3, 2023, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program (2023 Repurchase Program) allowing us to repurchase up to 

$100.0 million of our common stock from time to time through May 3, 2025. We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during the quarter 
ended September 30, 2024. During the three quarters ended September 30, 2024, we repurchased 2.0 million shares of our common stock for a total 
cost of $34.5 million (including commissions). As of September 30, 2024, the remaining amount in value available to be repurchased under the 2023 
Repurchase Program was approximately $41.1 million.

Long-term Debt and Letters of Credit 
As of September 30, 2024, we had $916.3 million of outstanding debt, net of discount and debt issuance costs, composed of $496.5 million of 

Senior Notes due March 2029, $339.8 million under the Term Loan Facility, and $80.0 million under the Asia Asset-Based Lending Credit Agreement 
(Asia ABL).

Pursuant to the terms of the Senior Notes due March 2029 and Term Loan Facility, we are subject to certain affirmative and negative covenants, 
including limitations on indebtedness, corporate transactions, investments, dispositions, and restricted payments. Under the U.S. Asset-Based Lending 
Credit Agreement (U.S. ABL) and Asia ABL (collectively, the ABL Revolving Loans), we are also subject to various financial covenants, including leverage 
and fixed charge coverage ratios. As of September 30, 2024, we were in compliance with the covenants under the Senior Notes due March 2029, Term 
Loan Facility, and ABL Revolving Loans.

Based on our current level of operations, we believe that cash generated from operations, cash on hand, and cash from the issuance of term and 
revolving debt will be adequate to meet our currently anticipated capital expenditure, debt service, and working capital needs for the next 12 months. 
Additional information regarding our indebtedness, including information about the credit available under our debt facilities, interest rates, and other key 
terms of our outstanding indebtedness, is included in Part I, Item 1, Note 8, Long‑term Debt and Letters of Credit, of the Notes to Consolidated 
Condensed Financial Statements included in this Report.

Supplier Finance Program Obligations
We have agreements with financial institutions to facilitate payments to certain suppliers. Under the terms of the agreements, we confirm the 

validity of each supplier invoice to the respective financial institution upon receipt. The supplier receives payment from the financial institution, and we pay 
the financial institution based on the terms negotiated, which generally range from 160 days to 360 days. Liabilities associated with these agreements are 
recorded in accounts payable on the consolidated condensed balance sheets and amounted to $18.3 million and $18.8 million as of September 30, 2024 
and January 1, 2024, respectively.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments 
As part of our on-going operations, we enter into contractual arrangements that obligate us to make future cash payments. These obligations 

impact our liquidity and capital resource needs. Our estimated future obligations consist of long-term debt obligations, interest on debt obligations, 
derivative liabilities, purchase obligations, and leases. As of September 30, 2024, there were no material changes outside the ordinary course of 
business since January 1, 2024 to our contractual obligations and commitments and the related cash requirements except for future interest on debt 
obligations. Our projected aggregate future interest on debt obligations as of September 30, 2024 amounted to $243.8 million, which we expect to settle 
as follows: $49.7 million within 1 year, $98.6 million within 1-3 years, $80.1 million within 4-5 years, and $15.4 million after 5 years. For debt obligations 
based on variable rates, interest rates used are as of September 30, 2024.

Offset Agreements
We have and may continue to enter into industrial cooperation agreements, sometimes referred to as offset agreements, as a condition to 

obtaining orders for our products and services from customers in foreign countries. As of September 30, 2024, we had outstanding offset agreements of 
approximately $27.3 million, some of which extend through 2028. Offset programs usually extend over several years and in some cases provide for 
penalties in the event we fail to perform in accordance with contract requirements. To date, we have not been obligated to pay any such penalties. For 
details about our offset agreements, see Part I, Item 1, Note 14, Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial 
Statements included in this Report.

Seasonality
We tend to experience modest seasonal softness in the first and third quarters due to holidays and vacation periods in China and North America, 

respectively, which limit production leading to stronger revenue levels in the second and fourth quarters.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
For a description of recently adopted and issued accounting standards, including the respective dates of adoption and the expected effects on our 

results of operations and financial condition, see Part I, Item 1, Note 1, Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation, of the Notes to Consolidated 
Condensed Financial Statements included in this Report.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 
In the normal course of business operations, we are exposed to risks associated with fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange 

rates. We address these risks through controlled risk management that includes the use of derivative financial instruments to economically hedge or 
reduce these exposures. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

We have not experienced any losses to date on any derivative financial instruments due to counterparty credit risk. 

Interest Rate Risks
Our business is exposed to risk resulting from fluctuations in interest rates. Our interest expense is more sensitive to fluctuations in the general 

level of Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) interest rates than to changes in rates in other markets. Increases in interest rates would 
increase interest expense relating to our outstanding variable rate borrowings and increase the cost of debt. Fluctuations in interest rates can also lead to 
significant fluctuations in the fair value of our debt obligations. 

On March 23, 2023, we entered into a four-year pay-fixed, receive-floating (1-month Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME) Term SOFR), interest 
rate swap arrangement with a notional amount of $250.0 million for the period beginning April 1, 2023 and ending on April 1, 2027. Under the terms of the 
interest rate swap, we pay a fixed rate of 3.49% against a portion of our Term SOFR-based debt and receive floating 1-month CME Term SOFR during 
the swap period. 

At inception, we designated the interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge and the fair value of the interest rate swap was zero. As of September 30, 
2024, the fair value of the interest rate swap was recorded as a net liability in the amount of $0.6 million, of which $0.8 million is included as a component 
of prepaid expenses and other current assets and $1.4 million is included as a component of other long-term liabilities. As of January 1, 2024, the fair 
value of the interest rate swap was recorded as a net asset of $1.8 million, of which $3.3 million is included as a component of prepaid expenses and 
other current assets and $1.5 million is included as a component of other long-term liabilities. No ineffectiveness was recognized for the quarter and three 
quarters ended September 30, 2024. During the quarter and three quarters ended September 30, 2024, the interest rate swap decreased interest 
expense by $1.1 million and $3.5 million, respectively. During the quarter and three quarters ended October 2, 2023, the interest rate swap decreased 
interest expense by $1.1 million and $2.1 million, respectively.

See Liquidity and Capital Resources and Long-term Debt and Letters of Credit appearing in Part I, Item 2 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for further discussion of our financing facilities and capital structure. As of September 30, 2024, approximately 80.9% of our total debt was based on fixed 
rates. Based on our borrowings as of September 30, 2024, an assumed 100 basis point change in variable rates would cause our annual interest cost to 
change by $1.8 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risks 
In the normal course of business, we are exposed to risks associated with fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates related to transactions 

that are denominated in currencies other than our functional currencies, as well as the effects of translating amounts denominated in a foreign currency to 
the U.S. Dollar as a normal part of our financial reporting process. Most of our foreign operations have the U.S. Dollar as their functional currency. 
However, one of our China facilities utilizes the Renminbi (RMB), which results in recognition of translation adjustments included as a component of other 
comprehensive income (loss). Our foreign exchange exposure results primarily from employee-related and other costs of running our operations in 
foreign countries, foreign currency denominated purchases, and translation of balance sheet accounts denominated in foreign currencies. We do not 
engage in hedging to manage this foreign currency risk. However, we may consider the use of derivatives in the future. Our primary foreign exchange 
exposure is to the RMB and Malaysian Ringgit (MYR). In general, our Chinese customers pay us in RMB, which partially mitigates this foreign currency 
exchange risk.

Debt Instruments
The fiscal calendar maturities of our debt instruments through 2028 and thereafter were as follows:

  As of September 30, 2024

 
 

Remaining 
2024   2025   2026   2027   2028   Thereafter   

Total
  Fair Value   

Weighted 
Average

Interest Rate
  (In thousands)    
US$ Variable Rate  $ 866   $ 3,465  $ 3,465  $ 4,331  $ 83,465   $ 330,908   $ 426,500   $ 427,799   6.92%
US$ Fixed Rate   —    —    —    —    —    500,000    500,000    474,415   4.00%
Total  $ 866   $ 3,465  $ 3,465  $ 4,331  $ 83,465   $ 830,908   $ 926,500   $ 902,214    
                         

(1) Interest rate swap effectively fixed $250,000 of variable rate debt.

 (1)
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), has 
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on 
this evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of September 30, 2024 such disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide 
reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, 
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and 
communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, our management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how 
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their desired control objectives, and our management is required to 
apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
We continue to expand our implementation of an enterprise resource planning (ERP) system on a worldwide basis, which is expected to improve 

the efficiency of the financial reporting and related transaction processes. We have completed the implementation at certain locations and as a result, we 
made changes to our processes and procedures which, in turn, resulted in changes to our internal control over financial reporting, including the 
implementation of additional controls. We are in the process of rolling out the ERP system to our remaining locations to standardize the ERP system.

There were no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) 
during the quarter ended September 30, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings 
From time to time, we may become a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. There can be no assurance 

that we will prevail in any such litigation. We believe that the amount of any reasonably possible or probable loss for known matters would not be 
material to our financial statements; however, the outcome of these actions is inherently difficult to predict. In the event of an adverse outcome, the 
ultimate potential loss could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows in a particular period. 

Item 1A. Risk Factors 
There have been no material changes in our risk factors as previously disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal 

year ended January 1, 2024. 

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On May 3, 2023, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program, under which we may repurchase up to $100.0 million of our 
outstanding shares of common stock through May 3, 2025. We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during the quarter ended September 
30, 2024.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

During the quarter ended September 30, 2024, our directors and/or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (Exchange Act)) adopted or terminated the contracts, instructions, or written plans for the purchase or sale of our securities set forth 
in the table below. 

 

Name and Title  Action  
Adoption / Termination 

Date  
Rule 10b5-

1  
Non-Rule 
10b5-1  

Total Number of Shares 
of Common Stock to be 

Sold  Expiration Date
Daniel L. Boehle (Executive Vice 
President and CFO)

 Adoption  August 8, 2024  X    Indeterminable  August 29, 2025

Thomas Clapprood (President, Radar 
Systems and Sensors Business Unit)

 Adoption  August 30, 2024  X    Indeterminable  November 28, 2025

Thomas T. Edman (CEO, President and 
Director)

 Adoption  August 8, 2024  X    Indeterminable  July 31, 2025

Robert Farrell (President, 
Communication and Computing Business 
Unit)

 Adoption  August 30, 2024  X    Indeterminable  November 28, 2025

Catherine A. Gridley (Executive Vice 
President and President, Aerospace & 
Defense Sector)

 Adoption  August 14, 2024  X    Indeterminable  July 31, 2025

Jeffrey S. Jankowsky (President, C4ISR 
+ Space Business Unit)

 Adoption  August 29, 2024  X    Up to 10,000  November 28, 2025

Jeffrey S. Jankowsky (President, C4ISR 
+ Space Business Unit)

 Adoption  August 29, 2024  X    Indeterminable  July 31, 2025

Dale Knecht (Senior Vice President of 
Global Information Technology)

 Adoption  August 14, 2024  X    Up to 39,098  July 31, 2025

Dale Knecht (Senior Vice President of 
Global Information Technology)

 Adoption  August 14, 2024  X    Indeterminable  July 31, 2025

Shawn Powers (Executive Vice 
President and Chief HR Officer)

 Adoption  August 16, 2024  X    Up to 12,400  November 28, 2025

(1) (2) (3)

(4)

(4)

(4)

(5)

(4)

(4)

(6)

(4)
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Name and Title  Action  
Adoption / Termination 

Date  
Rule 10b5-

1  
Non-Rule 
10b5-1  

Total Number of Shares 
of Common Stock to be 

Sold  Expiration Date
Shawn Powers (Executive Vice 
President and Chief HR Officer)

 Adoption  August 16, 2024  X    Indeterminable  July 31, 2025

Antonio J. Sanchez (Vice President and 
Corporate Controller)

 Adoption  August 28, 2024  X    Up to 10,971  July 31, 2025

Douglas L. Soder (Executive Vice 
President and President, Commercial 
Sector)

 Adoption  August 8, 2024  X    Up to 50,000  November 28, 2025

Douglas L. Soder (Executive Vice 
President and President, Commercial 
Sector)

 Adoption  August 8, 2024  X    Indeterminable  July 31, 2025

Philip Titterton (Executive Vice President 
and COO)

 Adoption  August 8, 2024  X    Up to 73,815  July 31, 2025

Daniel J. Weber (Executive Vice 
President, Chief Legal Officer and 
Secretary)

 Adoption  August 29, 2024  X    Indeterminable  July 31, 2025

 

(1)Contract, instruction or written plan intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act.
(2)“Non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act.
(3)Represents the maximum number of shares that may be sold pursuant to the 10b5-1 arrangement. The number of shares sold will be dependent on the satisfaction of certain conditions as set forth 
in the trading plan.
(4)Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement that is intended to provide for “eligible sell-to-cover transactions” (as described in Rule 10b5-1(c)(1)(ii)(D)(3) under the Exchange Act) to satisfy tax withholding 
obligations arising exclusively from vesting of restricted stock units (RSUs) or performance-based restricted stock units (PRUs). The number of shares subject to covered RSUs or PSUs that will be 
sold to satisfy applicable tax withholding obligations upon vesting is not currently determinable as the number will vary based on the market price of our common stock and the extent to which vesting 
conditions are satisfied. This sell-to-cover arrangement provides solely for the automatic sale of shares that would otherwise be issuable in respect of a covered RSU or PSU in an amount sufficient to 
satisfy the applicable withholding obligation, with the proceeds of the sale delivered to us in satisfaction of the applicable withholding obligation.
(5)Mr. Farrell’s trading plan provides for (i) sales of up to 1,660 shares of common stock that may be received upon the vesting of certain RSUs, and (ii) sales of a currently indeterminable number of 
shares of common stock to cover estimated tax withholding obligations and customary brokerage fees arising from vesting of certain other RSUs.
(6)This trading plan for Mr. Knecht provides for sales of up to 39,098 shares of common stock that may be received upon the vesting of certain RSUs or PSUs, in each case, net of the number of 
shares sold pursuant to Mr. Knecht’s other trading plan concurrently adopted on August 14, 2024, as disclosed in the table, which other trading plan is intended to provide solely for “eligible sell-to-
cover transactions” (as described above in Footnote 4).
(7)Mr. Sanchez’s trading plan provides for sales of up to 10,971 shares of common stock that may be received upon the vesting of certain RSUs.
(8)Mr. Titterton’s trading plan provides for sales of up to 73,815 shares of common stock that may be received upon the vesting of certain RSUs or PSUs.

Information Pursuant to Item 407(c)(3) of Regulation S-K 
As previously disclosed, at the Company’s 2024 Annual Meeting the stockholders of the Company approved, among other things, amendments to 

the Company’s bylaws (Bylaw Amendments). Section 1.12 of the Bylaw Amendments contains multiple changes to the advance notice requirements that 
stockholders must adhere to in order to make director nominations, each of which is consistent with and intended to update the bylaws for the “universal 
proxy rules” adopted as Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act. 

Specifically, these amendments (i) clarify that the bylaws do not preclude stockholders from using Rule 14a-19, (ii) require nominating 
stockholders to provide additional information about themselves and their proposed candidate pursuant to Section 1.12(c)(1)(F) of the Bylaw 
Amendments, (iii) require nominating stockholders to update and supplement the notice they provide to the Company with any changes or updates to the 
information provided in the initial notice, and (iv) require a nominating stockholder to represent whether they intend to solicit proxies under Rule 14a-19.

(1) (2) (3)

(4)

(7)

(4)

(8)

(4)
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Item 6. Exhibits 
 

Exhibit    Filed/Furnished  Incorporated by Reference
Number  Exhibit Description  Herewith  Form  File Number  Exhibit  Filing Date

             

10.2  First Amendment, dated as of August 1, 2024, to that certain 
Amended and Restated Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated 
as of May 30, 2023, by and among TTM Technologies, Inc., 
as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative 
Agent, and the several lenders from time to time parties 
thereto

   10-Q  000-31285  10.2  August 6, 2024

             

31.1  CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

 X         

             

31.2  CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

 X         

             

32.1*  CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

 X         

             

32.2*  CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

 X         

             

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document 
does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its 
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

          

             

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded 
Linkbase Documents

          

             

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL 
and contained in Exhibit 101)

          

 

*     Furnished herewith. The certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Report) are not 
deemed filed with the Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date of this Report, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in 
such filing.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1116942/000095017024091772/ttmi-ex10_2.htm
file:///tmp/T672/ttmi-ex31_1.htm
file:///tmp/T672/ttmi-ex31_2.htm
file:///tmp/T672/ttmi-ex32_1.htm
file:///tmp/T672/ttmi-ex32_2.htm
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
  TTM Technologies, Inc.
   

  /s/  Thomas T. Edman
   

Dated: November 5, 2024  Thomas T. Edman
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

   
  /s/  Daniel L. Boehle
   

Dated: November 5, 2024  Daniel L. Boehle
  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

 



 

Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Thomas T. Edman, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of TTM Technologies, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others 
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
/s/ Thomas T. Edman
 
Thomas T. Edman
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 5, 2024



 

Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Daniel L. Boehle, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of TTM Technologies, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others 
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
/s/ Daniel L. Boehle
 
Daniel L. Boehle
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer)

November 5, 2024



 

 

 

Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of TTM Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended September 30, 2024, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Thomas T. Edman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, to 
the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 
78o(d)); and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.

 
By:  /s/ Thomas T. Edman
   
  Thomas T. Edman
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

November 5, 2024



 

 

 

Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of TTM Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended September 30, 2024, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Daniel L. Boehle, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 
78o(d)); and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.

 
By:  /s/ Daniel L. Boehle
   
  Daniel L. Boehle
  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer)

November 5, 2024
 




